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DECISION


Robert R. Courtney’s pharmacist license is subject to discipline for diluting prescription medications and related conduct.  

Procedure


The Missouri Board of Pharmacy (Board) filed a complaint on August 15, 2002.  The Board filed a motion for summary determination on January 2, 2003.  Pursuant to section 536.073.3,
 our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3)(B) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if any party establishes facts that no party disputes and entitle any party to a favorable decision.  ITT Commercial Fin. Corp. v. Mid-Am. Marine Supply Corp., 854 S.W.2d 371, 380-82 (Mo. banc 1993).  The Board certified that it served a copy of the motion on Courtney’s lawyer.  Courtney did not respond.  Therefore, the following facts are undisputed.  

Findings of Fact

1. Courtney held pharmacist License No. 29228 from October 29, 1975, to August 27, 2001, except for the period between October 31, 1990, and October 3, 1991.  Courtney was also the president of Courtney Pharmacy, Inc., which did business as Research Medical Tower Pharmacy under Permit No. 4864 from May 2, 1998, to October 31, 2001.  Courtney was the pharmacist-in-charge at Research Medical Tower Pharmacy.
  

2. Courtney tampered with or adulterated the prescription medications that he sold to 34 cancer patients as follows:  

a. From March through June 2001, Courtney mixed, prepared, and delivered 103 prescriptions for Gemzar and 57 prescriptions for Taxol,
 knowing that they did not contain the amount of medication ordered by the physician.  Such tampering placed the patients in danger of death or bodily injury.  

b. On both August 7 and 13, 2001, Courtney diluted two prescriptions for Gemzar and one prescription for Taxol with another substance, or substituted another substance for Gemzar or Taxol.  Such adulteration caused the strength of the prescriptions to fall below, or the purity and quality of the prescriptions to differ from, what the prescriptions were represented to possess.

Courtney also tampered with and diluted prescriptions for Platinol and Paraplatin.  Courtney submitted claims to Medicare for all of the prescriptions in this finding.  The claims were false in that they did not disclose that the medications were tampered with or adulterated.  

3. On August 27, 2001, based on the conduct in Finding 2, Courtney surrendered his license pursuant to a temporary restraining order.  On November 20, 2001, Courtney Pharmacy, Inc., also surrendered its expired license to the Board.  

4. On February 26, 2002, Courtney pled guilty to an indictment based on the conduct in Findings 2.a and 2.b, which charged him with:

a. eight counts of Class C felony tampering with a consumer product under 18 USC section 1365(a)(3);   

b. six counts of Class E felony adulteration of a drug under 21 USC sections 331(k) and 333(a)(2); and 

c. six counts of Class E felony misbranding a drug under 21 USC sections 331(k) and 333(a)(2).  

Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear the Board’s complaint.  Section 338.055.2.  The Board has the burden to prove that Courtney has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm'n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  

A.  Guilty Pleas

The Board cites section 338.055.2(2), which allows discipline if:

The person has . . . entered a plea of guilty . . . in a criminal prosecution under the laws . . . of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of [pharmacists], for any offense an essential element of which is fraud [or] dishonesty . . . , or for any offense involving moral turpitude[.]

The qualifications of a pharmacist include good moral character under section 338.030.  The functions or duties of pharmacists include, under section 338.010.1, “the compounding, dispensing and labeling of drugs . . . pursuant to prescription orders[.]”  An essential element of 

an offense is one that must be present in every case to prove the offense.  State ex rel. Atkins v. State Bd. of Accountancy, 351 S.W.2d 483, 485 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1961).  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another or to act in reliance upon it.  Hernandez v. State Bd. of Regis’n for Healing Arts, 936 S.W.2d 894, 899 n.2 (Mo. App., W.D. 1997).  It always includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity, a disposition to defraud or deceive.  MERRIAM-WEBSTER'S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 333 (10th ed. 1993).  Moral turpitude is: 

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”  

In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).   

Courtney pled guilty to eight offenses under 18 USC section 1365(a)(3), which provides:

(a) Whoever, with reckless disregard for the risk that another person will be placed in danger of death or bodily injury and under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to such risk, tampers with any consumer product that affects interstate or foreign commerce, or the labeling of, or container for, any such product, or attempts to do so, shall – 

*   *   *

(3) if serious bodily injury to any individual results, be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than twenty years, or both [;] 

(emphasis added).  Courtney also pled guilty to 12 offenses under 21 USC section 333(a)(2), which provides:

(a) Violation of section 331 of this title; second violation; intent to defraud or mislead


(1) Any person who violates a provision of section 331 of this title shall be imprisoned for not more than one year or fined not more than $1,000, or both.


(2) Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph (1) of this section, if any person commits such a violation after a conviction of him under this section has become final, or commits such a violation with the intent to defraud or mislead, such person shall be imprisoned for not more than three years or fined not more than $10,000, or both.
(Emphasis added.)  21 USC section 331(k) prohibits: 

The alteration, mutilation, destruction, obliteration, or removal of the whole or any part of the labeling of, or the doing of any other act with respect to, a food, drug, device, or cosmetic, if such act is done while such article is held for sale (whether or not the first sale) after shipment in interstate commerce and results in such article being adulterated or misbranded [.]

(Emphasis added.) Adulteration is defined at 21 USC section 351:

A drug or device shall be deemed to be adulterated –

*   *   *


(c) Misrepresentation of strength, etc., where drug is unrecognized  in compendium


If it is not subject to the provisions of paragraph (b) of this section and its strength differs from, or its purity or quality falls below, that which it purports or is represented to possess.


(d) Mixture with or substitution of another substance


If it is a drug and any substance has been (1) mixed or packed therewith so as to reduce its quality or strength or (2) substituted wholly or in part therefor.

Misbranding is defined at 21 USC section 352(a):

A drug or device shall be deemed to be misbranded –


(a) False or misleading label


If its labeling is false or misleading in any particular[.]

(Emphasis added.) 


Those offenses are reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of a pharmacist because they relate to good moral character and the compounding, dispensing and labeling of drugs pursuant to prescription orders.  They involve moral turpitude because selling altered or misbranded drugs, and acting with reckless disregard and extreme indifference to another’s death or bodily injury, are depraved acts in violation of duties to others.  Their plain language shows that proving fraud is not necessary for a conviction under 18 USC section 1365(a)(3), but is necessary under 21 USC sections 331(k) and 333(a)(2).  Therefore, Courtney is subject to discipline under section 338.055.2(2).  

B.  Fraud

The Board cites section 338.055.2(4), which allows discipline for:

Obtaining or attempting to obtain any fee, charge, tuition or other compensation by fraud, deception or misrepresentation[.]

Deception is the act of causing someone to accept as true what is not true.  MERRIAM-WEBSTER'S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 298 (10th ed. 1993).  Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent of deceit rather than inadvertent mistake.  Hernandez, 936 S.W.2d at 899 n.3.  In Courtney’s plea agreement, he agreed that he committed the 12 violations of 21 USC sections 331(k) and 333(a)(2) with which he was charged and that he falsely billed Medicare for payment on all the 163 prescriptions that were the subject of the indictment.  Therefore, Courtney is subject to discipline under section 338.055.2(4).

C.  Professional Standards

The Board cites section 338.055.2(5), which allows discipline for:

Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of a [pharmacist.]

(Emphasis added.)  

Incompetency includes lacking the disposition to use an otherwise sufficient ability.  Forbes v. Missouri Real Estate Comm'n, 798 S.W.2d 227, 230 (Mo. App., W.D. 1990).  Courtney’s conduct shows that he was not disposed to use his professional ability to compound, dispense, and label drugs, and it constitutes incompetency.  

Misconduct means “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional wrongdoing.”  Missouri Bd. for Arch'ts, Prof'l Eng'rs & Land Surv'rs v. Duncan, No. AR-84-0239 (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm'n Nov. 15, 1985) at 125, aff'd, 744 S.W.2d 524 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  Gross negligence is a deviation from the standard of care so egregious as to demonstrate a conscious indifference to a professional duty.  Id. at 533.  Indifference to a professional duty and the intentional violation of that duty are mutually exclusive.  Though Courtney’s plea agreement admits that his attitude toward the patients’ health was one of reckless disregard and extreme indifference, the conduct of diluting cancer medication was willful and intentional.  Therefore, we conclude that Courtney’s conduct at Finding 2 constitutes misconduct, not merely gross negligence.  

We have already found that Courtney committed fraud, misrepresentation and dishonesty.   Therefore, we conclude that Courtney is subject to discipline under section 338.055.2(5) for incompetency, misconduct, fraud, misrepresentation, and dishonesty, but not for gross negligence.  

D.  Violations of Statutes and Rules

The Board cites section 338.055.2(6) and (15), which allow discipline for:

(6) Violation of . . . any provision of this chapter [338], or of any lawful . . . regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter;  

*   *   *

(15) Violation of the drug laws or rules . . . of this state . . . or the federal government[.]  

The Board argues that Courtney violated 18 USC section 1365(a)(3) and 21 USC sections 331(k) and 333(a)(2), set forth in part A of these conclusions of law.  Courtney’s admissions and guilty pleas are evidence of his guilt because they are admissions against interest.  Nichols v. Blake, 418 S.W.2d 188, 190 (Mo. 1967).  We conclude that Courtney violated 18 USC section 1365(a)(3) and 21 USC sections 331(k) and 333(a)(2).  

The Board argues that Courtney violated the Missouri counterpart of 21 USC section 331(k) on adulteration and misbranding.  Section 196.015 provides:

The following acts and the causing thereof within the state of Missouri are hereby prohibited: 

(1) The manufacture, sale, or delivery, holding or offering for sale of any food, drug, device, or cosmetic that is adulterated or misbranded; 

(2) The adulteration or misbranding of any food, drug, device, or cosmetic; 

*   *   *

(9) The alteration, mutilation, destruction, obliteration, or removal of the whole or any part of the labeling of, or the doing of any other act with respect to a food, drug, device, or cosmetic, if such act is done while such article is held for sale and results in such article being misbranded[.]

(Emphasis added.)  Adulteration is defined at section 196.095:

A drug or device shall be deemed to be adulterated:

*   *   *

(6) If it is not subject to the provisions of subdivision (5) of this section and its strength differs from, or its purity or quality falls below, that which it purports or is represented to possess; 

(7) If it is a drug and any substance has been mixed or packed therewith so as to reduce its quality or strength, or substituted wholly or in part therefor. 

Misbranding is defined at section 196.100.1:

A drug or device shall be deemed to be misbranded:

(1) If its labeling is false or misleading in any particular[.]

That conduct is identical to that described in the federal statutes to which Courtney pleaded guilty.  We conclude that Courtney violated section 196.015.  


The Board argues that Courtney violated Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.090(2), which sets forth his duties as the pharmacist-in-charge at Research Tower Medical Pharmacy:

The responsibilities of a pharmacist-in-charge, at a minimum, will include:

*   *   *

(W) Assure full compliance with all state and federal drug laws and rules;

*   *   *

(Y) Assure that all state and federal laws concerning drug distribution and control are complied with and that no violations occur that would cause a drug or device or any component thereof to become adulterated or misbranded[.]

(Emphasis added.)  We conclude that Courtney violated those provisions.    


Therefore, we conclude that Courtney is subject to discipline under section 338.055.2(6) and (15).  

E.  Professional Trust or Confidence

The Board cites section 338.055.2(13), which allows discipline for:

Violation of any professional trust or confidence[.]

In his plea agreement, Courtney states that he was able to accomplish his crimes through his position of trust.  Therefore, we conclude that Courtney violated a professional trust and is subject to discipline under section 338.055.2(13).  

F.  Changing the Content of a Prescribed Drug 

The Board cites section 338.055.2(16), which allows discipline for:

The intentional act of substituting or otherwise changing the content, formula or brand of any drug prescribed by written or oral prescription without prior written or oral approval from the prescriber for the respective change in each prescription[.]

Courtney admitted to fraudulently substituting or changing the content of 163 prescriptions for Gemzar or Taxol and an unspecified number of prescriptions for Platinol and Paraplatin.  Therefore, we conclude that Courtney is subject to discipline under section 338.055.2(16).

Summary


We conclude that Courtney is subject to discipline under section 338.055.2(2), (4), (5), (6), (13), (15), and (16). We cancel the hearing.   


SO ORDERED on February 4, 2003.



________________________________



CHRISTOPHER GRAHAM



Commissioner

�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri unless otherwise noted.


�The pharmacy permit of Courtney Pharmacy, Inc., is not at issue in this action.





�Gemzar and Taxol are chemotherapy medications.  
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